
No. _________ 
================================================================ 

In The 

Supreme Court of the United States 
---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 

MICHAEL BOUDREAUX, 

Petitioner,        
v. 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 

Respondent.        

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 

On Petition For Writ Of Certiorari 
To The United States Court Of Appeals 

For The Eleventh Circuit 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 

ERWIN CHEMERINSKY 
 Counsel of Record 
UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, 
 IRVINE SCHOOL OF LAW 
401 East Peltason Drive 
Irvine, CA 92697-8000 
(949) 824-7722 
echemerinsky@uci.edu 

BENEDICT P. KUEHNE 
MICHAEL T. DAVIS  
LAW OFFICE OF 
 BENEDICT P. KUEHNE, P.A. 
100 S.E. 2nd Street, Suite 3550 
Miami, FL 33131-2154 
(305) 789-5989 

Counsel for Petitioner 

================================================================ 
COCKLE LEGAL BRIEFS (800) 225-6964 

WWW.COCKLELEGALBRIEFS.COM 



i 

 
QUESTION PRESENTED 

 
 This Court often has emphasized the importance 
of qualified immunity as a defense for government 
officers who face personal financial liability. But a 
significant split has developed among the Circuits as 
to whether and when qualified immunity is available 
to government officers who face possible liability for 
monetary relief in suits brought under statutes other 
than 42 U.S.C. § 1983. In this case, the United States 
Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit held that a 
government officer who faces personal monetary lia-
bility is not entitled to qualified immunity for discre-
tionary functions in a civil action brought by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission under federal 
securities law for monetary penalties. This case thus 
raises an important issue never addressed by this 
Court, but that arises frequently, as to whether and 
when qualified immunity is available when a gov-
ernment officer faces monetary liability under federal 
statutes other than § 1983 for the exercise of his or 
her discretionary functions. Thus, the specific ques-
tion presented is: 

Whether a government officer performing discre-
tionary functions is entitled to a defense of quali-
fied immunity when facing monetary penalties 
under a federal statute. 
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PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDING 

 
 All parties are listed in the caption. 

 
RULE 29.6 STATEMENT 

 None of the petitioners is a nongovernmental cor-
poration. None of the petitioners has a parent corpo-
ration or shares held by a publicly traded company. 
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 Michael Boudreaux respectfully petitions for a writ 
of certiorari to review the judgment of the United 
States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

OPINIONS BELOW 

 The opinion of the Court of Appeals is reported at 
581 Fed. Appx. 757 (11th Cir. 2014) and is found at 
Appendix, App. 1. The Court of Appeals’ order deny-
ing Michael Boudreaux’s timely petition for rehearing 
and rehearing en banc was entered December 17, 
2014, and is found at App. 52. The order of the United 
States District Court for the Southern District of 
Florida denying the City of Miami’s motion to dismiss 
is reported at 988 F.Supp.2d 1343 (S.D. Fla. 2013), 
and is found at App. 14. The district court’s order 
denying Boudreaux’s motion to dismiss on grounds of 
qualified immunity is unreported, and is found at 
App. 9. 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

JURISDICTION 

 Petitioner seeks review of the decision of the 
United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Cir-
cuit entered on September 5, 2014. Timely petitions 
for rehearing and rehearing en banc were denied on 
December 17, 2014. This Court’s jurisdiction rests on 
28 U.S.C. § 1254(1). 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
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STATUTORY PROVISION INVOLVED 

15 U.S.C. § 78j – Manipulative and deceptive devices 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly 
or indirectly, by the use of any means or 
instrumentality of interstate commerce or of 
the mails, or of any facility of any national 
securities exchange – 

(a)(1) To effect a short sale, or to use or em-
ploy any stop-loss order in connection with 
the purchase or sale, of any security other 
than a government security, in contravention 
of such rules and regulations as the Commis-
sion may prescribe as necessary or appropri-
ate in the public interest or for the protection 
of investors.  

(2) Paragraph (1) of this subsection shall 
not apply to security futures products.  

(b) To use or employ, in connection with the 
purchase or sale of any security registered on 
a national securities exchange or any secur-
ity not so registered, or any securities-based 
swap agreement any manipulative or decep-
tive device or contrivance in contravention of 
such rules and regulations as the Commis-
sion may prescribe as necessary or appropri-
ate in the public interest or for the protection 
of investors. 

---------------------------------  ---------------------------------   



3 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) 
brought a civil enforcement action against the City 
of Miami (“City”) and its former Budget Director 
Michael Boudreaux (“Petitioner”) on allegations of 
securities fraud. The SEC alleged that Boudreaux, 
solely in his capacity as budget director, fraudulently 
recommended inter-fund transfers between the City’s 
Capital Project Fund and its General Revenue Fund 
to hide the City’s fiscal problems. The SEC further 
claimed that, after the transfers, Boudreaux was 
misleading in referring to the transferred funds as 
“unallocated” and “unused” in presentations to the 
City Commission and credit rating agencies. Finally, 
the SEC alleged that Boudreaux, in referring to those 
transferred funds as “unallocated” and “unused,” 
materially misled his superiors when they drafted the 
City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports 
(“CAFRs”). 

 The City filed a motion to dismiss the SEC’s com-
plaint, in part arguing that the SEC failed to allege 
false or misleading statements, and failed to plead 
materiality as to the allegedly fraudulent statements. 
Boudreaux adopted these arguments and also filed a 
separate motion to dismiss. In this motion, Boudreaux 
argued that he was entitled to qualified immunity 
because his conduct in question fell within the scope 
of his official position as the City’s budget director 
and violated no clearly established statutory or con-
stitutional rights of which a reasonable person should 
have known. 



4 

 In two separate orders, the district court denied 
both the City’s and Petitioner’s motions to dismiss. 
In its order regarding the City’s motion, the district 
court held that the complaint’s “general allegations 
support[ed] each claim for relief,” App. 33, and the 
SEC “met its light burden of alleging materiality.” 
App. 44. In its order regarding Petitioner’s motion 
(“Second December 27 Order”), the district court 
concluded that “qualified immunity only applies to 
lawsuits seeking damages.” Second December 27 
Order at 3. App. 12. Since the SEC’s civil enforcement 
action against Petitioner would impose civil monetary 
penalties rather than damages, the district court 
found that qualified immunity did not apply. Id. 

 After the district court denied Boudreaux’s 
motion to dismiss on the basis of qualified immunity, 
Boudreaux filed an interlocutory appeal arguing that 
the district court erred in its unprecedented limita-
tion of qualified immunity. In his appeal, Boudreaux 
relied on the many cases affirming that public of-
ficials are entitled to qualified immunity for their 
discretionary functions for all forms of personal 
monetary liability. 

 The Eleventh Circuit rejected this reasoning and 
affirmed the district court’s order denying Boudreaux’s 
motion to dismiss. The Court of Appeals agreed 
with Boudreaux that courts apply qualified immunity 
to damages actions against public officials perform- 
ing discretionary functions. App. 7. The Court of 
Appeals, however, distinguished the case against 
Boudreaux because it is a government enforcement 
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action, brought by the SEC to enforce securities law, 
and not a private civil suit. Id. The Court of Appeals 
reasoned that, as a government enforcement action, 
damages are replaced by civil penalties that serve a 
punitive rather than compensatory purpose, and are 
paid to the United States Treasury rather than a pri-
vate plaintiff. Id. Thus, the Court of Appeals, echoing 
the district court’s order, held that Boudreaux is not 
entitled to qualified immunity because he is poten-
tially liable for civil monetary penalties, and qualified 
immunity is applicable only in suits for damages. Id. 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
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REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT 

THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW OF 
THE COURT OF APPEALS’ DECISION BE-
CAUSE IT IS INCONSISTENT WITH SUPREME 
COURT PRECEDENTS AND CONFLICTS WITH 
THE DECISIONS OF OTHER CIRCUITS AS TO 
THE AVAILABILITY OF QUALIFIED IMMUN-
ITY FOR STATUTORY CLAIMS FOR MONE-
TARY LIABILITY AGAINST GOVERNMENT 
OFFICERS FOR THEIR DISCRETIONARY 
FUNCTIONS. 

A. This Court Should Grant Certiorari To Re-
solve The Conflict Between The Eleventh 
Circuit’s Decision And The Many Decisions 
Of This Court Emphasizing The Importance 
Of Qualified Immunity To Protect Govern-
ment Officers From Monetary Liability For 
Their Discretionary Functions. 

 There is no dispute in this case that the Securi-
ties and Exchange Commission seeks monetary relief 
against Michael Boudreaux in his individual capacity 
for his discretionary functions as Budget Director for 
the City of Miami. There is thus no disagreement 
that Boudreaux would be entitled to a defense of 
qualified immunity if these claims had been brought 
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, as a way to enforce the “laws” 
of the United States. See, e.g., Maine v. Thiboutot, 
448 U.S. 1 (1980) (Section 1983 can be used to sue 
state and local government officers for violating fed-
eral statutes). 



7 

 The District Court and the Court of Appeals re-
jected Boudreaux’s claim of qualified immunity be-
cause the Securities and Exchange Commission is 
seeking monetary “penalties” rather than monetary 
“damages.” App. 12, 7. But this distinction is incon-
sistent with the many cases of this Court explaining 
the importance of qualified immunity as a defense for 
those facing monetary liability. Nothing in these 
cases warrants drawing a distinction based on 
whether the relief is called “penalties” as opposed to 
“damages.” Quite the contrary, this Court’s repeated 
statements about the need to protect government 
officers who perform discretionary functions under-
mine any basis for the distinction and makes the 
Eleventh Circuit’s decision at odds with the reasoning 
of this Court. 

 As this Court declared in Anderson v. Creighton, 
483 U.S. 635, 638 (1987): 

[P]ermitting damages suits against govern-
ment officials can entail substantial social 
costs, including the risk that fear of personal 
monetary liability and harassing litigation 
will unduly inhibit officials in the discharge 
of their duties. Our cases have accommo-
dated these conflicting concerns by generally 
providing government officials performing 
discretionary functions with a qualified im-
munity, shielding them from civil damages 
liability as long as their actions could rea-
sonably have been thought consistent with 
the rights they are alleged to have violated. 
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 Qualified immunity reflects “the need to protect 
officials who are required to exercise their discretion 
and the related public interest in encouraging the vig-
orous exercise of official authority.” Butz v. Economou, 
438 U.S. 478, 506 (1978). As this Court recently 
explained: “[S]uch immunity ‘protect[s] government’s 
ability to perform its traditional functions.’ It does so 
by helping to avoid ‘unwarranted timidity’ in per-
formance of public duties, ensuring that talented 
candidates are not deterred from public service, and 
preventing the harmful distractions from carrying out 
the work of government that can often accompany 
damages suits.” Filarsky v. Delia, 132 S. Ct. 1657, 
1665 (2012) (quoting Richardson v. McKnight, 521 
U.S. 399, 409-411 (1997)). Thus, this Court has ex-
plained that “[q]ualified immunity gives government 
officials breathing room to make reasonable but mis-
taken judgments about open legal questions. When 
properly applied, it protects ‘all but the plainly in-
competent or those who knowingly violate the law.’ ” 
Ashcroft v. al-Kidd, 131 S. Ct. 2074, 2085 (2011) 
(quoting Malley v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 341 (1986)).  

 Boudreaux asserts qualified immunity in this 
case for the discretionary choices that he made as 
Budget Director for the City of Miami. He is claiming 
that he should not be held personally liable under 
federal securities laws unless it can be shown that he 
violated clearly established law that a reasonable 
person would know. The Court of Appeals, however, 
ruled that qualified immunity is not available when 
the monetary liability is deemed a “penalty” rather 
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than “damages.” App. 7. The Court of Appeals ex-
plained that a penalty is paid into the United States 
Treasury while damages are paid to the plaintiff. Id. 
But this distinction should not matter. Qualified 
immunity is about protecting the government officer’s 
exercise of discretion and its focus must be on the 
financial effect of the liability on the government of-
ficer. Whether the money goes to the Treasury or to a 
private plaintiff is irrelevant to that. As this Court 
explained: “Qualified immunity balances two im-
portant interests – the need to hold public officials 
accountable when they exercise power irresponsibly 
and the need to shield officials from harassment, dis-
traction, and liability when they perform their duties 
reasonably.” Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 231 
(2009). The Eleventh Circuit’s reasoning would mean 
that there is qualified immunity in a civil suit under 
the federal securities laws brought by a private party, 
but not by the United States. But there is no basis 
under the securities statute or the law of qualified 
immunity for such a distinction. 

 Likewise, the other reasons given by the Court of 
Appeals for denying qualified immunity are incon-
sistent with this Court’s reasoning. The Eleventh Cir-
cuit said that penalties are punitive, while damages 
are compensatory. App. 7. But there is no reason 
why this distinction matters as to the availability of 
qualified immunity because in both instances it is 
monetary liability awarded against a government of-
ficial for performing a discretionary function in the 
course and scope of his official employment. The 
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interests are exactly the same whether the monetary 
relief is called “damages” and paid to a plaintiff or 
called a “penalty” and paid to the Treasury. In fact, 
this Court has been clear that the label used for the 
relief is not determinative when it comes to immun-
ity; it is the financial effect on the defendant. See, 
e.g., Edelman v. Jordan, 415 U.S. 651, 668 (1974) (for 
immunity purposes labeling “monetary relief as a 
form of ‘equitable restitution,’ . . . in practical effect 
[is] indistinguishable in many aspects from an award 
of damages against the State.”). 

 This Court has further explained that qualified 
immunity is essential to “ensure that talented candi-
dates [are] not deterred by the threat of damages 
suits from entering public service.” Filarsky v. Delia, 
132 S. Ct. at 1665 (citations omitted). This, too, does 
not depend on whether the monetary relief is called a 
“penalty” or “damages,” or on the identity of the 
plaintiff bringing the civil suit. This concern has 
special significance in this case in terms of whether 
local governments will continue to be able to attract 
talented individuals into the type of skilled but risk-
laden position that Boudreaux occupied as a city 
budget director.  

 This Court should grant review to resolve the 
tension between the Eleventh Circuit’s ruling, hold-
ing that there is no qualified immunity when the 
government is seeking “monetary penalties,” and this 
Court’s many decisions emphasizing the importance 
of qualified immunity to protect government officers 
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from monetary liability when they are exercising dis-
cretionary functions. 

 
B. This Court Should Grant Certiorari To Re-

solve A Split Among the Circuits As To 
Whether And When Qualified Immunity Is 
Available As A Defense To Monetary Liabil-
ity Under Federal Statutes, Such As In This 
Case, Civil Penalties Under The Federal Se-
curities Acts. 

 Although there have been countless Supreme 
Court decisions concerning qualified immunity as a 
defense to a § 1983 action, never has this Court 
addressed the underlying question in this case: 
whether and when qualified immunity is available as 
a defense to actions under other federal statutes. In 
the absence of guidance from this Court, the federal 
courts of appeals have taken dramatically different 
and inconsistent approaches. This case provides the 
Court an ideal opportunity to address this issue and 
provided much needed guidance to the lower courts. 

 An example of this uncertainty in the law is 
the conflicting decisions as to whether qualified im-
munity is available under specific federal statutes. 
For example, in Berry v. Funk, 146 F.3d 1003 (D.C. 
Cir. 1998), the United States Court of Appeals for the 
District of Columbia Circuit held that qualified 
immunity is not a defense to civil action under the 
federal Wiretap Act, concluding that because Con-
gress had already set forth a statutory good faith 
defense “it is hardly open to the federal court to graft 
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common law defenses on top of those Congress cre-
ates.” Id. at 1013. 

 But the Sixth Circuit in Blake v. Wright, 179 F.3d 
1003 (6th Cir. 1999), came to the exact opposite 
conclusion and held that qualified immunity is a 
defense to violations of the federal Wiretap Act. The 
Sixth Circuit invoked the traditional justifications for 
qualified immunity: “the general costs of subjecting 
officials to the risks of trial – distraction of officials 
from their governmental duties, inhibition of discre-
tionary action, and deterrence of able people from 
public service.” Id. at 1012. As the Sixth Circuit also 
explained: “We fail to see the logic of providing a 
defense of qualified immunity to protect public offi-
cials from personal liability when they violate consti-
tutional rights that are not clearly established and 
deny them qualified immunity when they violate 
statutory rights that similarly are not clearly estab-
lished.” Id. at 1013. Accord Tapley v. Collins, 211 F.3d 
1210, 1216 (11th Cir. 2000) (following the Sixth 
Circuit’s decision and holding that qualified immuni-
ty is available in suits against government officers to 
enforce the federal Wiretap Act). 

 This split in authority as to whether there is 
qualified immunity for suits under the federal Wire-
tap Act is similar to that under other federal statutes. 
Most decisions, contrary to the Eleventh Circuit’s 
ruling in this case, have allowed qualified immunity 
as a defense for suits against individual officers 
for money damages under an array of federal stat-
utes. See Walden v. Centers for Disease Control and 
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Prevention, 669 F.3d 1277, 1285 (11th Cir. 2012) 
(“The defense of qualified immunity applies not only 
to constitutional claims, but also to claims brought for 
alleged violations of RFRA.”); Lussier v. Dugger, 904 
F.2d 661, 663-64, 670 n.10 (11th Cir. 1990) (the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973); Cullinan v. Abramson, 
128 F.3d 301, 307-12 (6th Cir. 1997) (the Racketeer 
Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act), cert. 
denied, 523 U.S. 1094 (1998); Gorman v. Bartch, 152 
F.3d 907, 914-15 (8th Cir. 1998) (applying qualified 
immunity to a claim under the Americans with Dis-
abilities Act); Torcasio v. Murray, 57 F.3d 1340, 1343 
(4th Cir. 1995) (the Americans with Disabilities Act 
and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973); Lue v. Moore, 43 
F.3d 1203, 1205 (8th Cir. 1994) (the Rehabilitation 
Act of 1973); McGregor v. Louisiana State Univ. Bd. 
of Supervisors, 3 F.3d 850, 862 & n.19 (5th Cir. 1993) 
(the Rehabilitation Act of 1973); Cronen v. Texas Dep’t 
of Human Servs., 977 F.2d 934, 939-40 (5th Cir. 1992) 
(Food Stamp Act of 1977); Doe v. Attorney General, 
941 F.2d 780, 797-99 (9th Cir. 1991) (the Rehabilita-
tion Act of 1973); Christopher P. by Norma P. v. Mar-
cus, 915 F.2d 794, 798-801 (2d Cir. 1990) (the 
Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975); 
P.C. v. McLaughlin, 913 F.2d 1033, 1040-42 (2d Cir. 
1990) (the Education for All Handicapped Children Act 
of 1975 and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973); Affiliated 
Capital Corp. v. City of Houston, 735 F.2d 1555, 1569-
70 (5th Cir. 1984) (the Sherman Antitrust Act); Na-
tional Black Police Ass’n, Inc. v. Velde, 712 F.2d 569, 
574-80 (D.C. Cir. 1983) (Title VI of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964 and the Crime Control Act of 1973). 
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 In none of these cases do the federal Circuits 
draw a distinction concerning the availability of qual-
ified immunity as to whether the relief is called a 
“penalty” or “damages.” The Eleventh Circuit’s deci-
sion in this case is thus inconsistent with these many 
other Circuit court rulings allowing qualified immu-
nity as a defense to a federal statutory claim. 

 But it must be noted that other Circuits, like the 
Eleventh Circuit in this case, have denied qualified 
immunity for statutory claims. For example, Samuel 
v. Holmes, 138 F.3d 173, 178 (5th Cir. 1998), held that 
qualified immunity is not an available defense in re-
taliation claims brought under the False Claims Act. 
See also Abrams v. Dep’t of Pub. Safety, 764 F.3d 244, 
255 (2d Cir. 2014) (rejecting a qualified immunity de-
fense to Title VII liability). 

 The differences among the Circuits cannot be 
explained by the specific statutes involved. None of 
these laws mentions qualified immunity, either to 
make it available as a defense or preclude its use. 
Statutes virtually never mention immunity, likely be-
cause this Court has been clear that statutes are 
written against the backdrop of the common law and 
thus presume the existence of immunities. See, e.g., 
Tenney v. Brandhove, 341 U.S. 367, 376 (1951) (Con-
gress legislates against a backdrop of common law 
that includes immunities).  

 The split among the Circuits is entirely a result 
of a lack of clarification from this Court as to whether 
and when qualified immunity is available as a 
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defense to federal statutory claims. This case pro-
vides a vital occasion for the Court to address this 
crucial issue and in the context of an important 
federal statute where the question often will arise: is 
qualified immunity available as a defense to an action 
for civil penalties brought against a city official? 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

CONCLUSION 

 For all these reasons, this Court should grant the 
petition. 

Respectfully submitted, 
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 Counsel of Record 
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[DO NOT PUBLISH] 

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT 

----------------------------------------------------------------------- 

No. 14-10363 
Non-Argument Calendar 

----------------------------------------------------------------------- 

D.C. Docket No. 1:13-cv-22600-CMA 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff-Appellee, 

versus 

CITY OF MIAMI, 

Defendant, 

MICHAEL BOUDREAUX, 

Defendant-Appellant. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Appeal from the United States District Court 
for the Southern District of Florida 

----------------------------------------------------------------------- 

(September 5, 2014) 

Before PRYOR, MARTIN and KRAVITCH, Circuit 
Judges. 
  



App. 2 

PER CURIAM: 

 In this interlocutory appeal, Michael Boudreaux, 
former Budget Director for the City of Miami (City), 
appeals the district court’s denial of his motion to 
dismiss the Securities and Exchange Commission’s 
(SEC) securities fraud suit against him based on 
qualified immunity. For the reasons that follow, we 
affirm. 

 
I. 

 The SEC instituted a civil enforcement action 
alleging that the City and Boudreaux (collectively 
“the defendants”) committed securities fraud, and 
that the City violated a 2003 SEC cease-and-desist 
order, imposed after the City violated the anti-fraud 
provisions of the federal securities laws in connection 
with the issuance of municipal bonds in 1995. As 
relief, the SEC requested that the district court: 
(1) grant injunctive relief that would permanently 
enjoin the defendants from further violations of fed-
eral securities law; (2) order the City to comply with 
the 2003 cease-and-desist order; and (3) impose civil 
monetary penalties on the defendants. 

 The crux of the SEC’s allegations concerned al-
leged material misrepresentations and omissions re-
flected in 2007 and 2008 fiscal year-end City financial 
documents that were incorporated by reference into 
the City’s bond offerings in 2009. Boudreaux, who 
was the City’s Budget Director during the relevant 
time period until his termination in March 2010, was 
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responsible for preparing the overall capital budgets, 
monitoring fiscal expenditures, and providing the 
data used in the City’s Comprehensive Annual Fi-
nancial Reports (CAFRs). In its complaint, the SEC 
alleged that Boudreaux: (1) engineered a series of 
improper monetary transfers to the City’s general 
revenue fund in a bid to mask the City’s deteriorating 
financial condition; and (2) furnished materially false 
and misleading information, including budget infor-
mation that he knew would be relied upon in prepar-
ing the CAFRs, to city officials, bondholders, and 
ratings agencies. The SEC asserted that Boudreaux 
devised the transfers for the purpose of helping the 
City obtain positive bond ratings in furtherance of a 
scheme to defraud bond investors. 

 The City moved to dismiss the SEC’s complaint, 
in pertinent part, because the complaint failed to 
plead any false or misleading statements or demon-
strate materiality as to any of the challenged state-
ments. Boudreaux adopted the arguments in the 
City’s motion to dismiss, and also separately moved to 
dismiss the claims against him based on the doctrine 
of qualified immunity because he was acting within 
the scope of his official responsibilities as City Budget 
Director when the alleged misconduct occurred. The 
district court denied the City’s motion to dismiss. 
Additionally, the court denied Boudreaux’s separate 
motion, reasoning that the doctrine of qualified im-
munity did not bar the SEC’s suit seeking civil penal-
ties against Boudreaux based on alleged securities 
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fraud. Boudreaux then filed the instant interlocutory 
appeal. 

 
II. 

 “We review de novo a district court’s decision to 
grant or deny the defense of qualified immunity on a 
motion to dismiss, accepting the factual allegations in 
the complaint as true and drawing all reasonable 
inferences in the plaintiff ’s favor.” Dalrymple v. Reno, 
334 F.3d 991, 994 (11th Cir. 2003). 

 Qualified immunity is an immunity from suit 
that extends to government officials performing dis-
cretionary functions. See Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 
U.S. 800, 817-18 (1982). Under this common-law 
defense, public officials sued in their individual ca-
pacities are entitled to qualified immunity when their 
actions do not violate “clearly established statutory or 
constitutional rights.” Id. at 818. “Qualified immunity 
balances two important interests – the need to hold 
public officials accountable when they exercise power 
irresponsibly and the need to shield officials from ha-
rassment, distraction, and liability when they per-
form their duties reasonably.” Pearson v. Callahan, 
555 U.S. 223, 231 (2009). 

 The SEC is an agency of the United States cre-
ated by Congress to enforce federal securities laws. 15 
U.S.C. §§ 77t(a)-(d), 78u(a)-(d). Congress has autho-
rized the SEC to bring civil law suits for violations of 
the securities laws and to seek, as relevant here, in-
junctions against future violations and civil monetary 
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penalties. Id. §§ 77t(b)-(d), 78u(d). “In suing to en-
force the securities laws, the SEC is vindicating pub-
lic rights and furthering public interests.” SEC v. 
Calvo, 378 F.3d 1211, 1218 (11th Cir. 2004). As such, 
an important distinction exists between a private en-
forcement action and an SEC enforcement action: In 
a private enforcement action under section 10(b) of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. 
§ 78j(b) (the Act) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated there-
under, the plaintiff must show “justifiable reliance” 
on the material misstatement or omission and that 
the misstatement caused the plaintiff ’s damages. See 
Bruschi v. Brown, 876 F.2d 1526, 1529 (11th Cir. 
1989). “Justifiable reliance,” however, is not an ele-
ment of an SEC enforcement action because Congress 
designated the SEC as the primary enforcer of the 
securities laws, and a private plaintiff ’s “reliance” 
does not bear on the determination of whether the se-
curities laws were violated, only whether that private 
plaintiff may recover damages. SEC v. Morgan Keegan 
& Co., Inc., 678 F.3d 1233, 1244 (11th Cir. 2012). 

 
III. 

 On appeal, Boudreaux asserts that as a public 
official sued in his individual capacity for his official 
conduct as the City’s Budget Director, he is entitled to 
the defense of qualified immunity against the SEC’s 
suit seeking civil penalties. Neither this court nor 
any of our sister circuits has addressed the issue of 
whether municipal officials are entitled to qualified 
immunity in a SEC enforcement action under the 



App. 6 

federal securities laws. As a starting point, we note 
that the anti-fraud provisions of the Act contain no 
express language granting municipal officials immun-
ity, but rather each provision broadly prohibits “any 
person” from engaging in securities fraud. See 15 
U.S.C. §§ 77q(a), 78j. Moreover, there is no history 
at common law of civil immunities being applied as a 
defense to federal enforcement actions. Cf Owen v. 
City of Independence, 445 U.S. 622, 637 (1980) (ex-
plaining that an absence of express statutory immun-
ity is fatal to an immunity claim unless the “tradition 
of immunity was so firmly rooted in the common law 
and was supported by such strong policy reasons that 
Congress would have specifically so provided had it 
wished to abolish the doctrine”) (quotation omitted). 

 We agree with Boudreaux’s assessment that 
courts have routinely applied the qualified immunity 
defense to actions seeking damages against public 
officials performing discretionary functions. See, e.g., 
Tapley v. Collins, 211 F.3d 1210, 1216 (11th Cir. 2000) 
(noting that “the defense of qualified immunity is 
available to public officials who are sued under the 
Federal Wiretap Act” in a private cause of action); 
Gonzalez v. Lee Cnty. Hous. Auth., 161 F.3d 1290, 
1299-1300 (11th Cir. 1998) (concluding that Congress’ 
silence regarding the common law defense of qualified 
immunity indicated that it was available to “a public 
official sued in her individual capacity” by a former 
employee under the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. 
§ 3601 et seq.). But the instant case is distinguish-
able. The SEC does not seek damages from Boudreaux 
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in a private suit; rather this is a government en-
forcement action that seeks civil monetary penalties 
against the defendants. See Gabelli v. SEC, 568 U.S. 
___, ___, 133 S.Ct. 1216, 1223 (2013) (“In a civil pen-
alty action, the Government is not only a different 
kind of plaintiff, it seeks a different kind of relief,” 
namely “penalties, which go beyond compensation, 
are intended to punish, and label defendants wrong-
doers”); see also Tull v. United States, 481 U.S. 412, 
422 (1987) (penalties are “intended to punish culpable 
individuals,” not “to extract compensation or restore 
the status quo”). 

 Additionally, civil monetary penalties imposed in 
a SEC enforcement action are “payable into the 
Treasury of the United States,” and do not constitute 
compensation for actual pecuniary loss. 15 U.S.C. 
§§ 77t(d)(3)(A), 78u(d)(3)(C)(i); see also Ellett Bros., 
Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co., 275 F.3d 384, 388 (4th 
Cir. 2001) (noting that “civil penalties . . . are not 
‘damages’ payable to the victim, but fines or assess-
ments payable to the government”). 

 Boudreaux’s reliance on our decision in D’Aguanno 
v. Gallagher, 50 F.3d 877 (11th Cir. 1995) – to argue 
that qualified immunity protects a public official in 
an action that seeks the imposition of any type of 
monetary award – is misplaced. In D’Aguanno, we 
clarified that for qualified immunity purposes, the 
term “damages” includes costs, expenses of litigation, 
and attorneys’ fees claimed by a plaintiff against a 
defendant in the defendant’s personal or individual 
capacity. Id. at 881. But, as previously noted, the SEC 
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is seeking civil penalties, and not damages, against 
Boudreaux in the instant action. 

 In sum, because the doctrine of qualified im-
munity was unavailable to Boudreaux as a defense 
against the SEC’s civil enforcement action, we con-
clude that the district court properly denied his mo-
tion to dismiss. 

 AFFIRMED. 
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SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

MIAMI DIVISION 

CASE NO. 13-22600-CIV-ALTONAGA 
 
SECURITIES AND 
EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 

    Plaintiff, 

v. 

CITY OF MIAMI, FLORIDA, 
et al., 

    Defendants. / 

 
 

 
ORDER 

(Filed Dec. 27, 2013) 

 THIS CAUSE came before the Court on Defen-
dant, Michael Boudreaux’s (“Boudreaux[’s]”) Motion 
to Dismiss . . . (“Motion”) [ECF No. 29], filed October 
7, 2013. The Court has carefully reviewed the parties’ 
written submissions and applicable law. 

 The relevant allegations of Plaintiff, Securities 
and Exchange Commission’s [“SEC[’s]”] Complaint 
[ECF No. 1], are summarized in the Order entered 
December 27, 2013 (“First December 27 Order”) [ECF 
No. 51]. The Court assumes the interested reader is 
familiar with the First December 27 Order, and that 
Order is incorporated here as though fully set forth. 
In the present Motion, Boudreaux seeks a dismissal 
of this suit on the basis of qualified immunity, as well 



App. 10 

as for the reasons presented by Defendant City of 
Miami (“City”) in its Motion to Dismiss . . . [ECF No. 
28], filed on October 27, 2013. As the First December 
27 Order addresses and rejects the City’s arguments 
in favor of dismissal, Boudreaux’s incorporation of the 
identical arguments for dismissal is not discussed 
further; those arguments in Boudreaux’s Motion are 
rejected on the same grounds. The Court only ad-
dresses the issue of Boudreaux’s qualified immunity 
defense. 

 Boudreaux asserts as a public official sued in his 
individual capacity for his public conduct, qualified 
immunity protects him from civil liability. Boudreaux 
claims his conduct violated no clearly established 
statutory or constitutional rights of which a reason-
able person should have known. The SEC points out 
that qualified immunity has no application here as 
the Complaint presents claims seeking injunctive re-
lief and civil penalties. The Court examines these 
arguments in turn. 

 The doctrine of qualified immunity shields “from 
liability for civil damages” government officials per-
forming discretionary functions “insofar as their con-
duct does not violate clearly established statutory or 
constitutional rights of which a reasonable person 
would have known.” Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 
800, 818 (1982) (citations and footnote call number 
omitted). The SEC is correct that the qualified im-
munity defense does not apply to claims for injunctive 
relief. See D’Aguanno v. Gallagher, 50 F.3d 877, 879 
(11th Cir. 1995) (“[B]ecause qualified immunity is a 



App. 11 

defense only to claims for monetary relief, the district 
court erred in granting summary judgment on plain-
tiffs’ claims for injunctive and declaratory relief ” 
(citation omitted)); Ratliff v. DeKalb Cnty., Ga., 62 
F.3d 338, 339 n.4 (11th Cir. 1995). In tacit acknowl-
edgement that qualified immunity is not a defense to 
claims seeking injunctive relief, Boudreaux in his 
Reply . . . [ECF No. 50], makes the new argument 
that injunctive relief is not a remedy available to the 
SEC because he is no longer Budget Director for the 
City. (See id. 1). The Court agrees an injunction 
preventing Boudreaux from violating the securities 
laws as a public official working for the City is a rem-
edy the SEC will be hard pressed to prevail on, as 
Boudreaux long ago left the employ of the City. See 
S.E.C. v. Smyth, 420 F.3d 1225, 1233, n.14 (11th Cir. 
2005) (“This Circuit has repeatedly held that ‘obey 
the law’ injunctions are unenforceable.”) (citations 
omitted). Nevertheless, the Court declines the invita-
tion to take up an argument raised for the first time 
in a reply memorandum. See Mark v. Labar, No. 08-
80646-CW, 2008 WL 4753745, at *2 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 27, 
2008) (citing S.D. Fla. L.R. 7.1(C) (the “reply memo-
randum shall be strictly limited to rebuttal of matters 
raised in the memorandum in opposition”); Tallahas-
see Mem. Reg’l Med. Ctr. v. Bowen, 815 F.2d 1435, 
1446 n.16 (11th Cir. 1987) [I]t is well settled that 
a party cannot argue an issue in its reply brief 
that was not preserved in its initial brief)) (citation 
omitted)). 
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 The SEC next argues the doctrine of qualified im-
munity does not bar a suit seeking the imposition of a 
civil penalty against Boudreaux. The Court agrees. As 
previously stated, qualified immunity applies only to 
lawsuits seeking damages. See D’Aguanno, 50 F.3d 
at 879. In Meredith v. Federal Mine Safety and 
Health Review Commission, 177 F.3d 1042, 1049 n.5 
(C.A.D.C. 1999), the court observed “a civil penalty 
constitutes something other than monetary damages, 
which the Supreme Court has described as ‘a sum of 
money used as compensatory relief.’ ” (quoting Dep’t 
of the Army v. Blue Fox, Inc., 525 U.S. 255, 262 
(1999)). Noting the “time-honored distinction between 
damages actions and those seeking equitable or spe-
cific relief,” Meredith, 177 F.3d at 1049 n.5 (citations 
omitted), combined with “the fact that qualified im-
munity applies only to actions seeking monetary 
damages,” the court concluded “qualified immunity 
does not bar a claim seeking civil penalties.” Id. (ci-
tations omitted). 

 Qualified immunity does not bar the SEC’s 
claims against Boudreaux. Accordingly, it is 

 ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Defendant, 
Michael Boudreaux’s Motion to Dismiss [ECF No. 
29] is DENIED. 
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 DONE AND ORDERED in Miami, Florida this 
27th day of December, 2013. 

 /s/ Cecilia M. Altonaga
  CECILIA M. ALTONAGA

UNITED STATES 
 DISTRICT JUDGE 

 
cc: counsel of record 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

MIAMI DIVISION 

CASE NO. 13-22600-CIV-ALTONAGA 
 
SECURITIES AND 
EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 

    Plaintiff, 

v. 

CITY OF MIAMI, FLORIDA, 
et al., 

    Defendants. / 

 
 

 
ORDER 

(Filed Dec. 27, 2013) 

 THIS CAUSE came before the Court on Defen-
dant, City of Miami’s (“City[’s]”) Motion to Dismiss . . . 
(“Motion”) [ECF No. 28], filed October 7, 2013. Plain-
tiff, Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commis-
sion” or the “SEC”), filed a Response . . . (“Response”) 
[ECF No. 43], on November 8, 2013, and the City filed 
its Reply . . . (“Reply”) [ECF No. 49], on November 25, 
2013. The Court has carefully reviewed the parties’ 
written submissions and applicable law. 

 
I. BACKGROUND 

 Introduction. In March 2003, the Commission is-
sued a cease-and-desist order against the City for 
violating the anti-fraud provisions of the federal 
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securities laws in connection with the City’s issuance 
of bonds in 1995. (See Compl. ¶ 2 [ECF No. 1]). In this 
action, the Commission alleges the City has violated 
the same securities laws again, this time in connec-
tion with three bonds issued by the City in 2009. (See 
id. ¶ 2). The Commission’s 40-page, 131-paragraph 
Complaint narrating the City’s and Defendant Michael 
Boudreaux’s (“Boudreaux[’s]”) actions and omissions 
with specific and detailed allegations is the subject of 
the present Motion. 

 The City regularly issues municipal bonds to the 
public, and at the end of its most recent fiscal year 
ending September 30, 2012, it had outstanding mu-
nicipal bonds totaling approximately $647 million. 
(See id. ¶ 10). Boudreaux was the City’s Budget Di-
rector during the relevant time periods, until his 
termination in March 2010. (See id. ¶ 11). The Budget 
Department is responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the City’s budgets for its general op-
erating, capital projects, special revenue, and debt 
service funds. (See id.). Boudreaux was responsible 
for preparing the overall capital budgets and monitor-
ing expenditures to ensure they did not exceed budget 
appropriations, and he masterminded the transfers 
at issue, which were incorporated into the financial 
information included in the City’s Management Dis-
cussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) and financial state-
ments. (See id.). He supplied journal entries budget 
information, including the closeout budgets that he 
knew would be relied on in preparing the City’s 
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Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports (“CAFRs”).1 
(See id. ¶¶ 11, 113). 

 The following is a condensed version of the 
story told in the Complaint. The City’s General Fund, 
used to account for all financial resources except 
those required to be reported in other funds, is the 
largest component of the City’s consolidated operating 
budget. (See id. ¶¶ 18-19). During fiscal years 2007 
through 2010, the City reported decreasing General 
Fund balances2 due to overspending, revenue under-
performance, and declines in property taxes. (See id. 
¶ 20). 

 The 2009 Bond Offerings. On May 29, 2009, the 
City issued $51 million in uninsured Limited Ad 
Valorem Tax Bonds. (See id. ¶ 24). On July 16, 2009, 
the City issued $37 million in uninsured Non Ad 
Valorem Revenue Refunding Taxable Pension Bonds. 
(See id. ¶ 27). On December 2, 2009, the City issued 
$65 million in uninsured Special Obligation Bonds, 
secured by pledges of certain local gas and transpor-
tation taxes and parking surcharges. (See id. ¶ 28). 
The Preliminary Official Statement and Official State-
ments for these bond offerings contained excerpts of 
the City’s 2008 CAFR, including the MD&A section 
and fiscal year-end 2008 audited financial statements. 

 
 1 A CAFR is a government entity’s official annual report. 
(See Compl. ¶ 21). 
 2 Fund balances refer to the difference between fund assets 
and liabilities. (See id. ¶ 18). 
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(See id. ¶¶ 24, 27-28). The bond closing documents 
contained certificates stating the Official Statement 
was free of misstatements and omissions of material 
fact (the “Anti-Fraud Certifications”). (See id.). 

 The rating agencies, Standard and Poor’s Finan-
cial Services LLC (“Standard and Poor’s”), Moody’s 
Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”), and Fitch Ratings 
Ltd. (“Fitch”), gave the three bond offerings favorable 
ratings. (See id. ¶¶ 25, 27-28). Credit ratings are im-
portant because they affect the cost of borrowing; the 
City as an issuer can save or incur significant addi-
tional costs in interest over the life of a bond because 
of its credit rating. (See id. ¶ 26). Issuers with good 
ratings are able to borrow at low cost as they pay low 
interest rates. (See id.). 

 The 2007 CAFR. Earlier, on July 22, 2008, the 
City had distributed its 2007 CAFR to the investing 
public. (See id. ¶ 21). The 2007 CAFR contained mis-
leading disclosures regarding a $13.1 million transfer 
from the Capital Improvement Fund to the General 
Fund. (See id. ¶ 38). The City had used and relied 
upon information provided by Boudreaux, such as the 
numbers for the charts regarding the transfers in-
cluded in the 2007 CAFR. (See id. ¶¶ 38, 84). The 
MD&A section of the 2007 CAFR misleadingly 
claimed the City was returning contributions from 
the Capital Improvement Fund to the General Fund 
because they were not expended, when in truth they 
had been allocated to specific capital projects that 
still needed those funds. (See id. ¶¶ 85-87). The dis-
closures did not comport with governmental generally 
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accepted accounting principles (“Governmental GAAP”) 
pursuant to Government Accounting Standards 
Board (“GASB”) Statement 34. (See id. ¶ 88 (citing 
GASB, Stmt. No. 34, Basic Fin. Stmts. – & Mgmt.’s 
Discuss’n & Anal. – for St. & Local Gov’ts, ¶ 11(d) 
(June 1999))).3 The disclosures in the 2007 financial 
statements were also deficient because the footnote 
describing the transfer omitted information required 
by Governmental GAAP (see GASB, Stmt. No. 38, 
Certain Fin. Stmt. Note Disclosures ¶ 15 (June 2001)), 
as it failed to disclose the intended purpose of the 
$31.1 million transfer was to offset the decline in the 
General Fund balance and maintain a General Fund 
balance target of $100 million. (See Compl. ¶¶ 42, 89-
90). 

 When Defendants made the $13.1 million trans-
fer, they knew the Capital Improvement Fund still 
needed a significant portion of the $13.1 million. (See 
id. ¶¶ 40-41). This transfer was material because it 
reduced the City’s deficit for fiscal year 2007 by 34 
percent and increased the General Fund’s ending bal-
ance by 15 percent, enabling the City to meet its Gen-
eral Fund balance of $100 million and to report its 
fund balance of $100.5 million in its 2007 CAFR. (See 
id. ¶ 79). 

 
 3 The full text of GASB statements can be accessed through 
GASB’s website at: http://www.gasb.org/jsp/GASB/Page/GASB 
SectionPage&cid=1176160042391# gasbs50. 
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 The 2008 CAFR. On March 26, 2009, the City 
distributed its 2008 CAFR to the investing public, in-
cluding in it material misrepresentations and omis-
sions concerning more than $24 million of transfers to 
the General Fund. (See id. ¶¶ 22, 91-92). Again, in 
drafting these misleading disclosures, the City relied 
on information provided by Boudreaux, which was 
later included in the May, July, and December 2009 
bond offerings. (See id. ¶ 96). The information was 
false and misleading because $8.2 million transferred 
from the Capital Projects Funds were restricted im-
pact fees rather than “unused appropriations that 
were initially funded” from the General Fund. (Id. 
¶¶ 92-93) (citation omitted). Specific capital projects 
had already spent $2.7 million of these funds. (See id. 
¶¶ 73-74). 

 Another $5.1 million transferred from the Capi-
tal Project Funds were never funded with General 
Fund unused contributions, but with restricted storm 
water utility fees. (See id. ¶¶ 75, 77). And contrary to 
Boudreaux’s representations, the revenue account did 
not have available funds to “replace” the $5.1 million 
sent to the General Fund because the money held in 
that account was already earmarked for other on-
going capital projects. (See id. ¶¶ 76-77). 

 Another $8 million transferred from the Capital 
Projects Funds did not originate from the General 
Fund but instead from two revenue accounts within 
the Capital Projects Funds; this money was not “un-
used” as it was already spent by capital projects by 
the time of the transfer to the General Fund. (See id. 



App. 20 

¶ 54). Boudreaux falsely described the $8 million trans-
fer as the return of an “advanced allocation” the Gen-
eral Fund had made to the Capital Projects Funds, 
and provided no supporting documentation for the 
transfer. (See id. ¶ 53). The $8 million consisted of 
almost all the money in two revenue accounts within 
the Capital Projects Funds, and a number of capital 
projects had already incurred expenditures totaling 
approximately $8 million against these accounts. (See 
id. ¶¶ 54-55). 

 The disclosures also omitted the fact that the 
General Fund’s balance was further increased by 
an improper $3.1 million transfer of restricted down-
town development supplemental fees. (See id. ¶ 94). 
Boudreaux’s justification for the $3.1 million transfer 
– that the transfer provided for “indirect costs” in-
curred in the General Fund relating to downtown 
development – was false, and the City Code required 
the restricted downtown development supplemental 
fees be held in a separate account. (See id. ¶¶ 50-51). 
Indeed, in 2010, after the Commission’s investigation 
into this matter, the City determined the transfer was 
improper and sent $3.1 million back to the Special 
Revenue Fund from the General Fund. (See id. ¶ 52). 

 The City omitted to disclose that capital projects 
impacted by the fiscal year 2007 transfer continued to 
incur unfunded expenditures and deficits after the 
funding was removed. (See id. ¶¶ 94-95). And $16.4 
million of the transfers to the General Fund came 
from restricted fees. (See id. ¶ 98). Pursuant to Gov-
ernmental GAAP, the City was prohibited from 
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placing the restricted funds in the General Fund. (See 
id. ¶¶ 98-101). 

 In the 1990s following a financial crisis in the 
City, the City enacted a law that the City’s General 
Fund reserves could not fall below 20 percent of its 
average general revenues for the prior three fiscal 
years. (See id. ¶ 35). The 2008 transfers materially 
impacted the General Fund, resulting in a 78 percent 
reduction of the 2008 fiscal year deficit and a 35 
percent increase in the General Fund’s ending bal-
ance. (See id. ¶ 48). The transfers of restricted fees to 
the General Fund totaling $16.4 million resulted in 
an overstatement of transfers to the General Fund of 
27 percent, a reduction of the deficit in the General 
Fund of 70 percent, and an overstatement of the 
General Fund ending balance of 21 percent. (See id. 
¶ 98). If the City had not transferred the $24.4 mil-
lion in 2008, the General Fund balance would have 
fallen below the 20 percent reserve mandated by law 
and the City Commission would have been required 
to adopt a plan to replenish the reserves to the requi-
site threshold within two fiscal years. (See id. ¶ 81). 

 Boudreaux is Warned About the Transfers. The 
City’s Finance Director told Boudreaux she was con-
cerned about the proposed transfers because they 
were a temporary solution to offset the decrease in 
the General Fund balance and would delay action to 
resolve the problems causing the City to use its 
General Fund reserves in the first place. (See id. 
¶ 63). On February 26, 2009, the Finance Director 
again voiced her concerns in a meeting with the City 
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Manager, the Chief Financial Officer, Boudreaux, and 
the City Treasurer. (See id. ¶ 64). The Finance Direc-
tor remarked that transferring the funds to the Gen-
eral Fund would be a “shell game” if they were later 
returned to the Capital Projects Funds to cover 
expenses incurred by the affected projects. (See id. 
¶ 65; see also id. ¶ 82). The Treasurer also described 
Boudreaux’s proposed transfer as reminiscent of the 
questionable fiscal policy that had led to the City’s 
financial meltdown in the 1990s. (See id. ¶ 65). 

 Defendants’ Misrepresentations and Omissions 
to the Rating Agencies. Defendants made material 
misrepresentations and omissions to Standard and 
Poor’s, Moody’s, and Fitch – the rating agencies that 
rated the City’s 2009 bonds. (See id. ¶ 102). During 
the last week of April 2009, Boudreaux represented to 
the rating agencies that the City was projecting an 
operating deficit of only $15.6 million in the General 
Fund for fiscal year 2009. (See id.). This was false and 
misleading, as it did not disclose the City would have 
to transfer money from the General Fund back to the 
Capital Projects Funds in 2009 to cover shortfalls in 
capital projects from transfers made in fiscal years 
2007 and 2008. (See id.). Boudreaux also made false 
statements to Moody’s when he sent it an email 
stating “[t]he reason for the increase in transfers 
in FY 2008 was due to the return of prior year Gen-
eral Fund contributions from the Capital Fund.” (Id. 
¶ 103). The statement was false, as the funds never 
originated from the General Fund and Boudreaux 
never disclosed the funds transferred in fiscal year 
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2008 included dollars restricted by the City Code 
for designated purposes and taken from specific capi-
tal projects that had already incurred expenditures 
against those funds or still needed them. (See id.). 

 Details of the Transfers are Revealed, and Funds 
are Returned. In November 2009, the City’s Office of 
Independent Auditor General (“OIAG”) issued a re-
port with findings concerning the $13.1 million trans-
ferred from the Capital Projects Funds in fiscal year 
2007 and the $13.3 million in transfers relating to the 
impact fees and storm sewer projects transferred 
from the Capital Projects Funds in fiscal year 2008. 
(See id. ¶ 104). The OIAG found the City’s manage-
ment’s representation to the City Commission that 
the funds taken from the Capital Projects Funds were 
“unused” General Fund contributions was inaccurate 
and misleading because there were already large 
shortages in capital project funding. (See id. ¶ 105). 
The OIAG determined the $8.2 million transferred 
from the Impact Fee Fund to the General Fund in 
2008 consisted of restricted impact fees and not Gen-
eral Fund contributions. (See id.). The OIAG con-
cluded the City used these transfers to increase the 
General Fund balance reserves by 15 percent and 
16.5 percent for 2007 and 2008, respectively. (See id.). 

 In March 2010, the City transferred $17.2 million 
from the General Fund back to the Capital Projects 
Funds to fund the shortfall in the Capital Projects 
Funds. (See id. ¶ 106). This amount included the 
shortfall resulting from the $13.1 million transferred 
in fiscal year 2007 and the $8 million transferred in 
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fiscal year 2008. (See id.). The City also reversed the 
$8.2 million transfer of the impact fees and returned 
the fees from the General Fund back to the Capital 
Projects Funds. (See id. ¶ 107). These transfers to-
taling $25.4 million decreased the General Fund bal-
ance by 27 percent in fiscal year 2009. (See id.). These 
transfers were required “to cover capital project 
expenditures which continued to spend after funding 
had been removed.” (Id.). In November 2010, the City 
determined the $3.1 million transfer of restricted 
downtown development fees was also improper and 
later transferred the money from the General Fund 
back to the Special Revenue Fund. (See id.). 

 In June and July 2010, after the City issued its 
2009 CAFR disclosing the transfers back to the Cap-
ital Projects Funds, the rating agencies lowered their 
ratings on the City’s general obligations bonds and 
issued a negative ratings outlook. (See id. ¶ 108). The 
City’s May 2009 and July 2009 bonds were down-
graded. (See id.). The rating agencies each reported 
the reversals from the General Fund back to the 
Capital Projects Funds contributed to the deteriorat-
ing condition of the City’s General Fund. (See id. 
¶ 109). In June 2011, Standard and Poor’s once again 
lowered its ratings on the City’s bonds, stating the 
downgrade was based on its view of the “continued 
pressure on the city’s finances as evidenced by con-
tinuing operating deficits, structurally unbalanced 
budgets, and low reserves.” (Id. ¶ 110). 

 Defendants’ Scheme. Defendants carried out a 
scheme to defraud, and Boudreaux was its architect. 
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(See id. ¶ 112). Boudreaux devised all the transfers, 
including the transfers of restricted funds to the 
General Fund. (See id.). Between 2008 and 2009 
Boudreaux misrepresented the true nature of the 
$13.1 million and $13.3 million transfers to the City 
Commission during public meetings, in briefings with 
City Commissioners and their staff, to the City’s ex-
ternal auditors, and to other senior managers of the 
City. (See id.). Boudreaux falsified the justification for 
the $8 million and $3.1 million transfers in the City’s 
internal records. (See id.). Boudreaux made false rep-
resentations to third parties, such as the rating agen-
cies. (See id.). During the audit of the City’s 2008 
financial statements, Boudreaux continued to mis-
represent the true nature of the $13.1 million trans-
fer in 2007, even after he was challenged by others at 
the City about the transfer. (See id.). Boudreaux 
knew his misconduct would lead to false and mislead-
ing disclosures about the General Fund and adversely 
affect the City’s financial statements relied on by pur-
chasers of the City’s previously-issued debt and new 
debt. (See id.). 

 Boudreaux furnished materially false and mis-
leading information that was incorporated into the 
City’s filings. (See id. ¶ 113). He supplied budget 
information, including the closeout budget, which he 
knew would be relied on in preparing the CAFRs. 
(See id.). Boudreaux devised the transfer proposals 
knowing the relationship between the General Fund 
balance and favorable ratings. (See id. ¶ 115). Tell-
ingly, Boudreaux wrote in a revenue manual, “Fiscal 
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year 2006 is the last audited year and fiscal years 
2007 and [2008] are anticipated to maintain the 
City’s general fund balance above 100 million. As a 
result of this responsible fiscal management it has 
an opportunity to see positive bond ratings on City 
issued debt with favorable interest rates.” (Id.). 
Boudreaux devised the transfers for the purpose of 
helping the City obtain positive bond ratings in 
furtherance of a scheme to defraud bond investors. 
(See id. ¶ 115). 

 Claims for Relief. On the basis of these and other 
allegations not repeated here, the Commission states 
five claims for relief. Count I, titled “Fraud in Viola-
tion of Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act,” 15 
U.S.C. section 77q(a), alleges between 2007 and 2009, 
Defendants used the means or instruments of trans-
portation or communication in interstate commerce, 
and by use of the mails offered and sold securities 
knowingly, willfully or recklessly employing schemes 
or artifices to defraud. (See id. ¶¶ 117-18). Count II, 
titled “Fraud in Violation of Sections 17(a)(2) and (3) 
of the Securities Act,” alleges between 2007 and 2009, 
Defendants, by use of the means of instruments of 
transportation or communication in interstate com-
merce and by use of the mails, in the offer or sale of 
securities: (a) obtained money or property by means 
of untrue statements of material facts and omissions 
of material facts necessary to make the statements 
made, in light of the circumstances under which they 
were made, not misleading; and/or (b) engaged in 
transactions, practices and courses of business which 
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operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon 
the purchaser. (See id. ¶ 120). In Count III, titled 
“Fraud in Violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange 
Act [15 U.S.C. section 78j(b),] and Rule 10b-5,” 17 
C.F.R. section 240.10b-5, the Commission alleges 
from 2007 through 2009 Defendants by use of the 
means and instruments of interstate commerce and 
the mails in connection with the purchase or sale of 
securities, knowingly, willfully, or recklessly: (a) em-
ployed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; (b) made 
untrue statements of material facts and omitted to 
state material facts necessary in order to make the 
statements made, in the light of the circumstances 
under which they were made, not misleading; and/or 
(c) engaged in acts, practices, and courses of business 
which have operated as a fraud upon the purchasers 
of the securities. (See id. ¶¶ 123-24). Count IV against 
Boudreaux is titled “Aiding and Abetting the City’s 
Violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and 
Rule 10b-5,” and it alleges Boudreaux aided and 
abetted the City in (a) employing devices, schemes or 
artifices to defraud; (b) in making untrue statements 
of material facts and omitting to state material facts; 
and/or (c) engaging in acts, practices, and courses of 
business that have operated as a fraud upon the pur-
chasers of such securities. (See id. ¶ 126). Last, Count 
V against the City, titled “Violations of Cease and 
Desist Order,” alleges the City violated the Commis-
sion’s March 21, 2003 order to cease and desist from 
causing any violations of the antifraud provisions of 
the securities laws, and seeks an order pursuant to 
Section 20(c) of the Securities Act and Section 21(e) of 
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the Exchange Act commanding the City to comply 
with a prior Commission order. (See id. ¶¶ 130-31). 

 The Commission seeks a declaration that De-
fendants have violated the federal securities laws (see 
id. 38); an order directing the City to comply with the 
prior Commission order (see id. 39); a permanent 
injunction enjoining Defendants from violating Sec-
tion 17(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a) and 
Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act, 15 
U.S.C. § 78j(b) (see id.); and an order directing De-
fendants to pay civil money penalties pursuant to 
Section 20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d), 
and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. 
§ 78u(d) (see id.). 

 
II. STANDARD 

 “To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint 
must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as 
true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its 
face.’ ” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) 
(quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 
(2007)). Although this pleading standard “does not 
require ‘detailed factual allegations,’ . . . it demands 
more than an unadorned, the-defendant-unlawfully-
harmed-me accusation.” Id. (quoting Twombly, 550 
U.S. at 555). Pleadings must contain “more than la-
bels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the 
elements of a cause of action will not do.” Twombly, 
550 U.S. at 555. Indeed, “only a complaint that 
states a plausible claim for relief survives a motion 
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to dismiss.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 679 (citing Twombly, 
550 U.S. at 556). To meet this “plausibility standard,” 
a plaintiff must “plead[ ] factual content that allows 
the court to draw the reasonable inference that the 
defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Id. at 
678 (citing Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556). When review-
ing a motion to dismiss, a court must construe the 
complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff 
and take the factual allegations therein as true. See 
Brooks v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Fla., Inc., 116 
F.3d 1364, 1369 (11th Cir. 1997). 

 While complaints are adequate if they contain “a 
short and plain statement of the claim showing that 
the pleader is entitled to relief,” FED. R. CIV. P. 
8(a)(2), where a complaint states securities fraud 
claims, as with other types of fraud claims, the com-
plaint must also satisfy the heightened pleading re-
quirements of Rule 9(b), stating “with particularity 
the circumstances constituting fraud.” Mizzaro v. 
Home Depot, Inc., 544 F.3d 1230, 1237 (11th Cir. 
2008); see also Edward J. Goodman Life Income Trust 
v. Jabil Circuit, Inc., 594 F.3d 783, 789 (11th Cir. 
2010) (citations omitted). And Rule 9(b) is satisfied 
where the complaint states: 

(1) precisely what statements were made in 
what documents or oral representations or 
what omissions were made, and (2) the time 
and place of each such statement and the 
person responsible for making (or, in the case 
of omissions, not making) same, and (3) the 
content of such statements and the manner 
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in which they misled the plaintiff, and (4) what 
the defendants obtained as a consequence of 
the fraud. 

Mizzaro, 544 F.3d at 1237 (quoting Tello v. Dean 
Witter Reynolds, Inc., 494 F.3d 956, 972 (11th Cir. 
2007)). 

 “[U]nder Rule 9(b), it is sufficient to plead the 
who, what, when, where, and how of the allegedly 
false statements and then allege generally that those 
statements were made with the requisite intent.” 
Id. The purpose for this degree of particularity is to 
“alert[ ] defendants to the precise misconduct with 
which they are charged and protect[ ] defendants 
against spurious charges of immoral and fraudulent 
behavior.” Durham v. Bus. Mgmt. Assocs., 847 F.2d 
1505, 1511 (11th Cir. 1988) (citations and internal 
quotation marks omitted). In addressing whether 
Rule 9(b) requires nonfraud securities claims to be 
pled with particularity, the Eleventh Circuit has 
sided with the majority of circuits in holding that 
“Rule 9(b) applies when the misrepresentation justi-
fying relief under the Securities Act is also alleged to 
support a claim for fraud under the Exchange Act and 
Rule 10(b)-5.” Wagner v. First Horizon Pharm. Corp., 
464 F.3d 1273, 1277 (11th Cir. 2006) (citations and 
footnote call number omitted). Further, Rule 9(b) 
applies to claims of aiding and abetting securities 
violations when the same fraud-related factual alle-
gations underlying the aiding-and-abetting claims 
also support the fraud claims. See SEC v. Levin, No. 



App. 31 

12-21917-CIV, 2013 WL 594736, at *6 (S.D. Fla. Feb. 
14, 2013) (citation omitted). 

 
III. DISCUSSION 

 The City seeks a dismissal of all of the counts of 
the Complaint directed to it. It first argues the Com-
plaint fails to plead any false or misleading statement 
in that: it fails to connect the factual allegations to 
the claims stated; no claims can be based on the 2007 
CAFR; and the 2008 CAFR identified the amount, 
purpose, and source of the transfers. Second, the City 
argues the Complaint fails to plead materiality as to 
any of the challenged statements because: no mis-
statement could be material to the December 2009 
offering; none of the information allegedly omitted 
from the 2007 and 2008 CAFRs was material to any 
bond offering; and the rating agencies’ decisions do 
not establish materiality. Third, the City asserts the 
Complaint fails to plead scienter as to the section 
10(b) and section 17(a)(1) claims against the City and 
Boudreaux. Fourth, the City states the claims under 
section 17(a)(2) or 17(a)(3) fail because the SEC has 
failed to plead negligence. Fifth, the City argues no 
allegations support the claim the City violated the 
earlier cease and desist order. Last, the City asserts 
no claim for civil penalties may be stated against a 
municipality. These arguments are addressed in the 
sequence presented. 
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A. Whether the Complaint Alleges a False 
or Misleading Statement 

 To plead a violation of section 17(a)(1), as stated 
in Count I, the Complaint must allege “(1) material 
misrepresentations or materially misleading omis-
sions, (2) in the offer or sale of securities, (3) made 
with scienter.” SEC v. Merch. Capital, LLC, 483 F.3d 
747, 766 (11th Cir. 2007) (citation omitted). For Count 
II to properly state a violation of sections 17(a)(2) and 
17(a)(3), the SEC must allege “(1) material misrepre-
sentations or materially misleading omissions, (2) in 
the offer or sale of securities, (3) made with negli-
gence.” Id. (citation omitted). And for Count III alleg-
ing a violation of section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, the 
SEC must allege: “(1) a material misrepresentation or 
omission; (2) scienter . . . ; (3) a connection between 
the misrepresentation and the purchase or sale of 
a security; (4) reliance . . . ; (5) economic loss; and 
(6) loss causation, i.e., a causal connection between 
the material misrepresentation and the loss.” Meyer 
v. Greene, 710 F.3d 1189, 1194 (11th Cir. 2013) (quot-
ing Dura Pharms., Inc. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 341-
42 (2005) (internal quotation marks and footnote call 
number omitted)). 

 The City’s first attack upon the Complaint is that 
the SEC fails to plead any false or misleading state-
ment to support these first three claims. The City 
generally complains the pleading fails to connect the 
factual allegations to each of the claims, relying 
in large part on Wagner, 464 F.3d 1273, a case involv-
ing claims brought under the Private Securities 
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Litigation Reform Act (“PSLRA”), 15 U.S.C. § 78u-
4(b),4 where the Eleventh Circuit required re-pleading 
of a “proverbial shotgun pleading” “that incorpo-
rate[ed] every antecedent allegation by reference into 
each subsequent claim for relief.” (citation omitted). 
The City also insists the 2007 CAFR was not incorpo-
rated into any of the offering documents, and in any 
event, the 2007 and 2008 CAFRs provided all infor-
mation regarding the rationale for the transfers com-
plained about, so no misrepresentations can be found 
there. (See Mot. 9-15; Reply 4-6). 

 Regarding the City’s reliance on Wagner, 464 F.3d 
1273, to urge a dismissal of the Complaint in its 
entirety, the Court is not convinced the Complaint is 
a shotgun pleading. Each count does not incorporate 
every preceding allegation, including paragraphs of 
other counts, but rather each count incorporates only 
the general allegations contained in paragraphs 1 
through 115. Those general allegations support each 
claim for relief and identify the relevant events, 
misrepresentations, and omissions advanced by the 
SEC. Neither the Court nor Defendants have to sift 
through the allegations to see which ones support the 
cause of action purportedly stated and disregard 

 
 4 Where a private litigant brings a section 10(b) claim, “it is 
subject to the PLSRA [sic], under which a plaintiff must state 
with particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the 
defendant acted with the required state of mind.” Thompson v. 
RelationServe Media, Inc., 610 F.3d 628, 633 (11th Cir. 2010) 
(citation and internal quotation marks omitted). 
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allegations that only pertain to other counts, such as 
would be the case if each count incorporated allega-
tions of the preceding count or counts. See, e.g., U.S. 
ex rel. Atkins v. McInteer, 470 F.3d 1350, 1354, n.6 
(11th Cir. 2006) (describing a typical shotgun plead-
ing as one where “Count Two incorporated Count One 
and adds six paragraphs.”); Edward v. BAC Home 
Loans Servicing, L.P., No. 12-15487, 2013 U.S. App. 
WL 4400102, at *3 (11th Cir. Aug. 16, 2013) (“An ex-
ample of a shotgun pleading is a pleading that incor-
porates every antecedent allegation by reference into 
each subsequent claim for relief.” (citation omitted)). 
Here, the allegations of each count in the Complaint 
do not incorporate by reference every antecedent alle-
gation, as the allegations specifically applicable to a 
count are not thereafter incorporated into the subse-
quent count. Cf. SEC v. Solow, No. 06-81041-CIV-
MIDDLEBROOKS/JOHNSON, 2007 U.S. Dist. WL 
917269, at *3 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 23, 2007) (The court 
applied the rationale of Wagner where only the fact 
section was reincorporated with each count). The 
Court sees no difficulty in reviewing the sufficiency of 
each count of the SEC’s Complaint by considering the 
allegations stated in paragraphs 1 through 115, all of 
which the SEC intends to have support each count by 
its incorporation thereto. 

 Furthermore, as noted by the SEC in its Re-
sponse and the court in SEC v. Das, No. 8:10CV102, 
2010 WL 4615336, at *6 (D. Neb. Nov. 4, 2010), the 
present Complaint does not include hundreds of para-
graphs, as was the case in Wagner, nor does it involve 



App. 35 

numerous defendants or voluminous documents. (See 
Resp. 27). The instant case has two defendants, a 
municipal employer and its employee, and a few false 
documents. “The factual allegations are relatively 
brief and clear, and a more detailed statement of how 
those facts apply to each claim is not necessary to 
enable the [two] Defendants to respond to the alle-
gations.” Das, 2010 WL 4615336, at *6 (alteration 
added). 

 The Court acknowledges that in Levin, 2013 WL 
594736, at *7-8, the court applied Wagner, 464 F.3d at 
1278-79, and followed Solow, 2007 WL 917269 at *3, 
to conclude that the SEC’s wholesale incorporation of 
forty-nine paragraphs into each of six counts in the 
complaint, with no other facts supporting the counts 
apart from the general factual background section of 
the pleading, and while technically not a shotgun 
pleading, failed to satisfy Rule 9(b). The court in 
Levin, however, pointed out particular examples of 
uncertainty regarding which facts from the factual 
background section supported each claim for relief, 
and which facts pertained to the two named defen-
dants. Levin, 2013 WL 594736, at *8 (stating, for 
example, the complaint “does not specify whether the 
Banyon or BIF misstatements and omissions, or both, 
are the basis for the fraud allegations in Counts II 
and III against both Levin and Preve.”). Here, all of 
the facts of the background section are intended to 
contain the two Defendants’ misstatements and omis-
sions complained about and which form the basis of 
each of the claims for relief. The City has pointed out 
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no uncertainties regarding how to interpret those 
facts, or which facts apply to which Defendant, other 
than its contentions regarding the inadequacy of the 
facts, including the 2007 and 2008 CAFRs, to support 
the SEC’s claims. The Court sees no other way to 
address the City’s concerns short of having the SEC 
re-plead, to repeat verbatim, the incorporated para-
graphs into each of the six counts. But the Court will 
not have the SEC go through such an inefficient 
exercise, nor have the parties re-brief and the Court 
reconsider the matters addressed in the present brief-
ing. See Levin, 2013 WL 594736, at *9 (where the 
court declined to address the remaining arguments 
regarding the sufficiency of the pleadings’ allegations 
concerning materiality and scienter until after amend-
ment). Doing so would only add further delay and 
expense to the case. 

 With regard to the false statements purportedly 
made, the Complaint alleges the following. The 2007 
CAFR stated funds being transferred were “not ex-
pended” when in reality the funds were still needed to 
complete ongoing projects. The 2008 CAFR, excerpts 
of which were included with the Preliminary Official 
Statement and Official Statements for the bond of-
ferings, stated the transfers to the City’s General 
Fund were unused appropriations initially funded 
from the General Fund in prior years when in truth 
the funds were not “unused appropriations,” the 
funds were not initially funded from the General 
Fund in prior years, and most of the funds should not 
have been transferred because they were restricted 
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funds. The 2008 CAFR misstated the balance by 
overstating the General Fund balance as the City was 
including restricted funds that could not have been 
properly included in the balance. And statements 
made to rating agencies in presentations regarding 
the City’s 2009 budget were false, as the budget did 
not include funds the General Fund would need to 
transfer back in 2009 to cover shortfalls created by 
the 2007-08 transfers. “A duty to disclose may [ ] be 
created by a defendant’s previous decision to speak 
voluntarily. Where a defendant’s failure to speak 
would render the defendant’s own prior speech mis-
leading or deceptive, a duty to disclose arises.” Ru-
dolph v. Arthur Andersen & Co., 800 F.2d 1040, 1043 
(11th Cir. 1986) (alteration added; emphasis in origi-
nal; citation omitted). The Complaint alleges once the 
City made these specific representations, whether re-
quired to by law or not, the City failed to comply with 
its duty under the federal securities laws to ensure its 
representations were materially accurate and did not 
omit material information. 

 Regarding the falsity of the noted statements, the 
City argues it clearly identified the amount and 
nature of the transfers, provided all the information 
regarding the rationale for those transfers, and dis-
closed the City was spending more money than it was 
taking in. (See Reply, 4). But that is not what the 
Complaint alleges the City did. The City asserts the 
SEC fails to state why the money at issue could not 
be deferred for a period of time as the City reevalu-
ated the timing of capital projects during a global 
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financial crisis, and is critical of the SEC for failing to 
offer authority to that effect. (See id. 4-5). But the 
Court is unaware of any authority, and the City cites 
to none, that requires the SEC to address these “de-
fenses” the City is interposing in a motion to dismiss 
in order to state valid claims for relief predicated on 
the falsity of the identified statements. The City also 
states the SEC fails to allege when the transferred 
funds were needed, and the SEC lacks authority to 
supersede the City Commission’s determination re-
garding its projects and funding of a multi-year cap-
ital plan. Yet that is not what the Complaint purports 
to do; it merely challenges, for example, the truthful-
ness of representations contained in the 2008 CAFR 
provided to bond investors under the federal securi-
ties law. 

 The City’s next contention is that it is unclear 
what claims, if any, can be based on the 2007 CAFR, 
as the document was not incorporated into any of the 
bond offerings at issue. (See Mot. 12; Reply 6-7). 
While the City accuses the SEC of failing to address 
this argument in its Response (see Reply 6), the SEC 
does clarify the relevance of the 2007 CAFR to the 
present claims. The SEC explains that while not 
included in the 2009 bond offerings, the 2007 CAFR 
was publicly disseminated containing materially false 
information, and so collectively it changed the in-
formation available to investors holding the City’s 
outstanding bonds. (See Resp. 25). This public dis-
semination, argues the SEC, satisfies the “in con-
nection” with the purchase or sale of any security 
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required under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the 
Exchange Act. (See id. 25-26) (quoting SEC v. Rana 
Research, Inc., 8 F.3d 1358, 1362 (9th Cir. 1993) (If 
the material misrepresentation or omission occurred 
in the context of “public dissemination in a document 
such as a press release, annual report, investment 
prospectus or other such document on which an in-
vestor would presumably rely, the ‘in connection with’ 
requirement is generally met by proof of the means of 
dissemination and the materiality of the misrepre-
sentation or omission.”) (citation omitted)). Whether 
the false statements contained in the 2007 CAFR 
serve to support the federal securities claims or are 
merely provided as background information preceding 
the discussion of the falsity of the information later 
contained in the 2008 CAFR, the allegations concern-
ing the 2007 CAFR do not compel a dismissal for the 
failure of the Complaint to state claims of securities 
violations. 

 As to the City’s assertion that it did disclose the 
information the SEC maintains was not properly dis-
closed in the 2008 CAFR, the SEC’s theory, supported 
by the well-pleaded facts, is that reasonable investors 
would have no way of knowing certain, relevant 
information about the funds being transferred: that 
the funds were already used or expended; that the 
funds included restricted funds the City could not 
transfer into the General Fund; or that the funds 
included funds not initially from the General Fund. 
(See Response 18). In this sense, this case is different 
from Benzon v. Morgan Stanley Distributors, Inc., 420 
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F.3d 598, 609 (6th Cir. 2005), a case the City relies 
on (see Mot. 14), where a prospectus contained all in-
formation necessary to compare different shares of 
classes. While the City recasts the Complaint as the 
SEC believing the City should have stated more ex-
plicitly “it was transferring money to improve the 
General Fund’s balance” (Mot. 14.), this is not what 
the SEC complains of when it addresses the transfer 
of expended or restricted funds not disclosed as such 
in the information the City disseminated. And while 
the City is certainly entitled to its belief that readers 
of the 2008 CAFR “knew precisely what the City was 
doing and why it was doing it” (id. at 15), again, that 
is not what the Complaint alleges, nor what the 
Court must accept as true for purposes of deciding 
whether the Complaint satisfies Rule 9(b). As to the 
City’s first line of attack concerning the lack of allega-
tions concerning false statements, the Court finds the 
Complaint satisfies the who, what, when, where, and 
why of Rule 9(b). 

 
B. Whether the Complaint Pleads Materi-

ality 

 The City’s next chief criticism of the Complaint is 
that it fails to plead any material misrepresentation 
or omission. “[A]n omitted fact is material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that a reasonable shareholder 
would consider it important in deciding how to vote.” 
Basic, Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231 (1988) 
(citation and internal quotation marks omitted). More 
particularly, “to fulfill the materiality requirement 
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‘there must be a substantial likelihood that the dis-
closure of the omitted fact would have been viewed by 
the reasonable investor as having significantly al-
tered the ‘total mix’ of information made available.’ ” 
Id. at 231-32. (citation omitted). “Nevertheless, to be 
material, a fact need not be outcome-determinative – 
that is, it need not be important enough that it would 
necessarily cause a reasonable investor to change his 
investment decision.” SEC v. Meltzer, 440 F. Supp. 2d 
179, 190 (E.D.N.Y. 2006) (citation omitted). A court 
should not dismiss a complaint on the ground that 
statements or omissions are immaterial, “unless they 
are so obviously unimportant to a reasonable investor 
that reasonable minds could not differ on the ques-
tion of their importance.” Ganino v. Citizens Utils. 
Co., 228 F.3d 154, 162 (2d Cir. 2000) (citations and 
internal quotation marks omitted). Where the state-
ments or omissions are so obviously unimportant, the 
court may “rule that the allegations are inactionable 
as a matter of law” and dismiss a complaint, notwith-
standing materiality being a mixed question of law 
and fact usually decided by the trier of fact. In re 
Donald J. Trump Casino Sec. Litig.-Taj Mahal Litig., 
7 F.3d 357, 369, n.13 (3d Cir. 1993) (citations omit-
ted). 

 The City argues the 2008 CAFR clearly identified 
the amounts, sources, and purposes of the transfers, 
showing the City was merely transferring money be-
tween its own accounts. (See Mot. 15). According to 
the City, there is no allegation “the City had a duty to 
disclose the purportedly omitted facts or provide more 



App. 42 

information” (id. at 16), and there is no allegation 
there was any impact on the bonds or that any inves-
tor considered the misrepresentations or omissions in 
purchasing or not purchasing bonds. (See id. at 16-
17). The City is critical of the absence of any allega-
tion concerning whether the City was authorized or 
not to transfer the funds at issue. (See id. at 17). 
On the basis of these and other criticisms, the City 
concludes “[t]he SEC’s allegations regarding the 
transfers and certifications in the Complaint are, if 
anything, nothing more than obviously unimportant 
considerations of a reasonable investor.” (Id. at 17). 

 The City gives more examples of the absence of 
materiality. For example, the Complaint alleges the 
2009 bond offerings were secured by gas and trans-
portation taxes and parking surcharges; as they were 
not secured by the General Fund, any misstatements 
or omissions about the Fund were immaterial. (See 
id. at 18). The Inspector General’s November 2009 
report critical of the 2007 and 2008 transfers, issued 
before the December 2009 bond offering, was avail-
able to investors, rating agencies, and the general pub-
lic. (See id. at 18) (citing Seibert v. Sperry Rand Corp., 
586 F.2d 949, 952 (2d Cir. 1978) (“[W]here informa-
tion is equally available to both parties, a defendant 
should not be held liable to the plaintiff under securi-
ties laws for failure to disclose.” (citations omitted))). 
Further, by reading the 2008 CAFR, investors would 
know the City was spending more money than it was 
taking in and the General Fund was below the $100 
million number even with substantial transfers. (See 
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Mot. 19-20). And while the Complaint alleges the 
2008 CAFR was misleading because it did not dis-
close some of the funds (approximately $8 million) 
came from restricted sources of revenue, and al-
though an investor may have wanted to know this 
information, the City is critical of the SEC’s failure to 
allege this fact would likely have changed an invest-
ment decision. (See id. 20). 

 Last, the City presents an argument seeking to 
dismiss the significance of the rating agencies’ ini-
tially favorable ratings of the 2009 bonds based on 
the 2008 CAFR. By examining the rating agencies’ 
written documentation, attached to the Motion as ex-
hibits that may be considered without converting the 
Motion to one for summary judgment (see Universal 
Express, Inc. v. SEC, 177 F. App’x 52, 53 (11th Cir. 
2006)), the City insists the Court will see the rating 
agencies followed a “more sophisticated, nuanced, and 
holistic view of the City’s finances,” not dependent on 
“any particular amount being placed in the General 
Fund.” (Mot. 21). According to the City, “[t]hese public 
statements by the rating agencies confirm that they 
understood precisely the situation with Miami’s rev-
enues and precisely what the transfers did and did 
not do. They confirm that any additional information 
was immaterial.” (Id. 22-23). Hence, the City argues 
the very documents the SEC relies on do not support 
the allegation that the downgrades occurred once the 
rating agencies learned the truth about the General 
Fund. (Id. 23). 
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 The SEC insists it has met its “light burden” of 
alleging materiality. (See Resp. 19). The undersigned 
agrees materiality is satisfied. There is just enough in 
the Complaint to prevent the Court from finding the 
information “so unimportant that reasonable minds 
could not differ” as to its materiality. Certainly the 
City presents good arguments about the lack of ma-
teriality of the omissions in the 2007 CAFR. But the 
SEC makes the point that Boudreaux’s manipulations 
in fiscal year 2008, increasing the General Fund by 
35 percent, enabled the City to falsely represent the 
City’s financial condition in the 2008 CAFR and of-
fering statements, preventing the General Fund bal-
ance from falling below the 20 percent reserve 
required by law. (See id. 20). The SEC also argues the 
omissions are quantitatively material because they 
had a greater effect than five percent. (See id. (citing 
SEC v. Escala Group, Inc., 2009 U.S. Dist. WL 
2365548, at *9 (S.D.N.Y. July 31, 2009) (noting a five 
percent threshold may provide the basis for a prelim-
inary assumption that a matter is material))). The 
preliminary quantitative analysis must be paired 
with a qualitative analysis of factors affecting the 
materiality determination. See Escala, 2009 WL 
2365548, at *9 (citation omitted). The SEC contends 
the omissions were qualitatively material as well 
because they involved improper transactions in 2008 
of placing restricted funds into the General Funds. To 
the City’s argument about the rating agencies’ nu-
anced and informed approach to their rating deci-
sions, the SEC repeats its allegation that once the 
agencies learned of the transfer of funds from the 
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General Fund to the Capital Projects Fund for fiscal 
year 2009 and of the General Fund balance decrease, 
the bonds were downgraded. (See Resp. 21 (citing 
Compl. ¶¶ 106-08)). 

 Presented in the context of a motion to dismiss, 
where the Court must accept the factual allegations 
as true and give the SEC the benefit of the inferences 
which may fairly be drawn from them, In re Donald 
J. Trump Casino Sec. Litig.-Taj Mahal Litig., 7 F.3d 
at 369 (citation omitted), the Court will not conclude 
the challenged omissions are so obviously unim-
portant that they are immaterial as a matter of law. 
Viewing the allegations concerning materiality in the 
light most favorable to the SEC, the Court concludes 
materiality is minimally satisfied.5 

 
C. Whether the Complaint Alleges Scienter 

 One of the elements of the SEC’s section 10(b) 
and section 17(a)(1) claims against the City is scien-
ter. Scienter means “a wrongful state of mind,” Meyer 
v. Greene, 710 F.3d 1189, 1194 (11th Cir. 2013); it is 
“a mental state embracing intent to deceive, ma-
nipulate, or defraud,” SEC v. Ginsburg, 362 F.3d 
1292, 1297 (11th Cir. 2004) (citations and internal 

 
 5 The SEC improperly alludes to sworn testimony of the 
rating agencies to show those agencies consider the information 
an important factor in determining what rating to give the City’s 
bonds. (See Resp. 21, n.21). This information is disregarded for 
purposes of the Court’s analysis. 
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quotation marks omitted). To establish scienter, the 
SEC may also show “severe recklessness,” that is, 

highly unreasonable omissions or misrepre-
sentations that involve not merely simple or 
even inexcusable negligence, but an extreme 
departure from the standards of ordinary 
care, and that present a danger of mislead-
ing buyers or sellers which is either known 
to the defendant or is so obvious that the de-
fendant must have been aware of it. 

Mizzaro, 544 F.3d at 1238. Circumstantial evidence 
may be used to support a strong inference of scienter. 
In re Scientific Atlanta, Inc. Sec. Litig., 754 F. Supp. 2d 
1339, 1361 (N.D. Ga. 2010) (citations omitted). Ques-
tions of materiality and scienter involve assessments 
peculiarly within the province of the trier of fact. See 
Merch. Capital, LLC, 483 F.3d at 766 (citation omit-
ted). Further, the scienter of a corporation’s officer 
(or in this case a City’s high-ranking employee) may 
be imputed to the corporation itself under general 
agency and corporate law principles. See Hubbard v. 
BankAtlantic Bancorp, Inc., 625 F. Supp. 2d 1267, 
1288-89 (S.D. Fla. 2008). 

 In challenging whether the SEC has sufficiently 
alleged facts to support an inference of scienter, the 
City argues the Complaint at best purports to show 
the scienter of Boudreaux, a low-level employee, 
which cannot be imputed to the City (see Mot. 24-27 
(citing In re Faro Techs. Sec. Litig., 534 F. Supp. 2d 
1248, 1262 (M.D. Fla. 2007) (holding scienter must be 
found either as to the employee making the false 
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statements or “any other high level employee”6))). 
Further, the City asserts even as to Boudreaux the 
Complaint fails to show scienter (see Mot. 27). The 
SEC disagrees on both points. 

 With regard to the first argument, the Complaint 
contains a number of allegations (see Compl. ¶ 11) 
supporting the conclusion that Budget Director 
Boudreaux was a high-ranking official at the City. 
This is the case notwithstanding organizational 
charts contained within the 2007 and 2008 CAFRs 
and referred to by the City in its Motion. Curiously, 
those charts (see Mot. Ex. 1 [ECF No. 28-1]), rather 
than help the City, support the SEC’s position as they 
identify Boudreaux by name as heading the “Office of 
Strategic Planning, Budgeting & Performance.” As 
such, he reported directly to the Chief of Operations 
who in turn reported directly to the City Manager/ 
Chief Administrator. (See id.). The Court will not con-
clude, on a motion to dismiss, and despite any inter-
pretation of an organizational chart to the contrary, 
that the City’s Budget Director was not a high rank-
ing employee capable of having his scienter imputed 
to the City. 

 As to the second contention, the Complaint 
does allege scienter. As previously summarized, the 

 
 6 The court in In re Faro, for example, distinguishes be-
tween a corporation’s “mail room clerk and the CEO with respect 
to the legal authority to act for or bind the corporation through 
actual or apparent agency.” Id. 
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Complaint alleges following entry of the cease and 
desist order, the City, through its Budget Director 
Boudreaux, knew it was misrepresenting the true 
nature of the transfers to mask declines in the Gen-
eral Fund balance, it knew the funds transferred into 
the General Fund were still needed for ongoing 
projects, and notwithstanding this knowledge made 
misrepresentations to the rating agencies about the 
General Fund balance and omitted to disclose the 
transfers. The Complaint alleges the City knew those 
misleading disclosures would affect the City’s finan-
cial statements relied on by purchasers of City debt. 
The Complaint alleges the City moved the money into 
the General Fund with knowledge the rating agencies 
would look favorably upon the overstated General 
Fund account balance. 

 Like a corporation, a city does not have state of 
mind of its own. Its scienter is found in the acts, state-
ments and state of mind of its agents. See Mizzaro, 
544 F.3d at 1254 (citations omitted). Therefore, it is 
proper to attribute Boudreaux’s knowledge to the 
City, as a court “look[s] to the state of mind of the 
individual corporate official or officials who make or 
issue the statement (or order or approve it or its 
making or issuance, or who furnish information or 
language for inclusion therein, or the like).” Id. (in-
ternal citation and quotation marks omitted). The 
City points to what it describes as immaterial omis-
sions or misstatements by a low level employee (a 
point the undersigned has already rejected), the in-
sufficiency of the desire by Boudreaux to obtain 
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favorable credit ratings for the City to constitute 
severe recklessness, and the lack of knowledge that 
his actions would result in false statements being 
relied on by investors, as defeating the scienter alle-
gations. In the light of the summarized allegations, 
the Court disagrees. In “evaluating scienter, a court 
must consider the entirety of the allegations con-
tained in the complaint and not whether any individ-
ual allegation, scrutinized in isolation, meets that 
standard.” Fried v. Stiefel Labs., Inc., No. 11-CV-
20853, 2012 U.S. Dist. WL 4364300, at *5 (S.D. Fla. 
June 8, 2012) (citation omitted). A holistic review of 
the Complaint satisfies the undersigned scienter is 
properly alleged. See also SEC v. Bankatlantic Ban-
corp, Inc., No. 12-60082, 2012 U.S. Dist. WL 1936112, 
at *17 (S.D. Fla. May 29, 2012) (“While the Defen-
dants[ ] argue that their disclosures as a whose [sic] 
undermine this inference [of extreme recklessness], 
the Court finds that the above-demonstrated discon-
nect between the general disclosures as presented 
and the specific misrepresentation and omissions as 
alleged does not support a finding of diminished 
scienter on the face of these allegations and disclo-
sures.”) (alteration added; emphasis deleted). 

 
D. Whether the Claim for Civil Penalties 

Should be Dismissed 

 The City next argues the Court should “dismiss” 
the Complaint’s request for civil penalties. While the 
argument is better presented as a motion to strike 
under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(f), rather 
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than a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, 
see, e.g., Parsons v. Okaloosa Cnty. Sch. Dist., No. 
3:09cv254/WS/EMT, 2010 U.S. Dist. WL 1753152, at 
*2 (N.D. Fla. Mar. 30, 2010), under either standard 
the argument fails to persuade. The federal securities 
laws allow the SEC to seek penalties against munici-
pal entities. See 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)(A) (“Whenever 
it shall appear to the Commission that any person 
has violated a provision of this chapter, . . . the Com-
mission may bring an action in a United States 
district court to seek, and the court shall have juris-
diction to impose, upon a proper showing, a civil 
penalty to be paid by the person who committed such 
violation.”). And “person” is defined as including “a 
natural person, company, government, or political 
subdivision, agency, or instrumentality if a govern-
ment.” 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(9). The City nevertheless 
argues section 77b(a) of the Exchange Act states the 
definitions in the statute are to be used “unless the 
context otherwise requires,” 15 U.S.C. § 77b(a), and 
because under the common law municipalities are 
immune from punitive damages, the prayer for such 
relief in the Complaint should be “dismissed” or 
“stricken.” (See Reply 12-13). This argument fails to 
persuade, as a civil penalty does not serve the same 
punishment goals of punitive damages, but instead is 
meant to provide disincentives to securities laws vio-
lations in cases brought by the SEC. See, e.g., SEC v. 
Lybrand, 281 F. Supp. 2d 726, 729-30 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) 
(citations omitted). 
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E. Whether the Complaint Alleges Negli-
gence or Violation of the Cease and De-
sist Order 

 Last, the City argues the Complaint fails to al-
lege its negligence-based claims under sections 17(a)(2) 
and (3). (See Mot. 28). Given that the undersigned is 
satisfied the SEC has properly plead scienter, a much 
higher standard than a mere failure to exercise a 
standard of reasonable care in a negligence-based 
claim, this argument, too, must fail. And finally, the 
City asserts the SEC has failed to properly allege a 
claim of violation of the cease and desist order. Not 
so. The Complaint properly presents this claim in 
Count V. 

 For the foregoing reasons, it is 

 ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Motion 
to Dismiss [ECF No. 28] is DENIED. 

 DONE AND ORDERED in Miami, Florida, this 
27th day of December, 2013. 

 /s/ Cecilia M. Altonaga
  CECILIA M. ALTONAGA

UNITED STATES 
 DISTRICT JUDGE 

 
cc: counsel of record 
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IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT 

----------------------------------------------------------------------- 

No. 14-10363-CC 

----------------------------------------------------------------------- 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 

 Plaintiff-Appellee, 

versus 

CITY OF MIAMI, 

 Defendant, 

MICHAEL BOUDREAUX, 

 Defendant-Appellant. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Appeal from the United States District Court 
for the Southern District of Florida 

----------------------------------------------------------------------- 

ON PETITION(S) FOR REHEARING AND PETI-
TION(S) FOR REHEARING EN BANC  

(Filed Dec. 17, 2014) 

BEFORE: WILLIAM PRYOR, MARTIN and 
KRAVITCH, Circuit Judges 

PER CURIAM: 

The Petition(s) for Rehearing are DENIED and no 
Judge in regular active service on the Court having 
requested that the Court be polled on rehearing en 
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banc (Rule 35, Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure), 
the Petition(s) for Rehearing En Banc are DENIED. 

ENTERED FOR THE COURT: 

/s/ [Illegible]                                           
UNITED STATES CIRCUIT JUDGE 

ORD-42 
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